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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

 EASTERN DIVISION 

 
ALEKSANDER SHUL 
2195 South Green Road 
Cleveland, OH 44121, 
 
and 
 
SHNIOR ZALMAN DENCIGER 
4380 University Parkway 
University Heights, OH 44118, 
 
and 
 
UNIVERSITY REALTY USA LLC 
10605 Ashbury Ave 
Cleveland, OH 44106, 
 
    Plaintiffs, 
 
 v. 
 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO 
2300 Warrensville Center Road 
University Heights, OH 44118, 
 
    Defendant. 
 
 
With a Copy To: 
 
DAVE YOST 
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OHIO 
30 East Broad Street, 14th Floor 
Columbus, Ohio 43215. 

 
 

CASE NO. 
 
       
       JUDGE  

        

 
COMPLAINT 

 
 

JURY DEMAND ENDORSED HEREON 
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Plaintiffs, ALEKSANDER SHUL, SHNIOR ZALMAN DENCIGER, and UNIVERSITY 

REALTY USA LLC (hereinafter collectively, “Plaintiffs”), by and through their undersigned 

counsel, respectfully allege as follows:

INTRODUCTION AND NATURE OF THE ACTION 
 

1. Plaintiffs file this action to redress violations of their civil rights caused by the City 

of University Heights, Ohio (hereinafter the “City” or “Defendant”) through its burdensome, 

discriminatory, and unreasonable land use regulation of houses of worship in the City in violation 

of the Free Exercise and Free Speech Clauses of the First Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act of 2000, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000cc, et seq. (“RLUIPA”), Article I, section 7 of the Ohio Constitution, and Ohio common 

law protecting religious land uses. 

2. The City’s land use regulations effectively preclude and unreasonably limit any 

new house of worship in the City.  Such regulations also treat various nonreligious assembly and 

institutional land uses more favorably than houses of worship in violation of constitutional and 

statutory protections of religious exercise. 

3. Since 2009, Rabbi Shnior Zalman Denciger (“Denciger”) has engaged in prayer 

services at his residence at 4380 University Parkway, University Heights (the “Property”).  The 

Property has become known throughout the City as the “Aleksander Shul,” an Orthodox Jewish 

house of worship (a “shul”) that offers Orthodox Jewish prayer services in the Polish Chassidic 

style, and according to the unique customs of the Aleksander Chassidic sect, which was decimated 

by the Nazis during the Holocaust.   
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4. The City for many years permitted the Aleksander Shul to operate informally at the 

Property.  For many residents of the City, the Aleksander Shul is the only place for them to exercise 

their religion because, pursuant to their Orthodox Jewish beliefs, they do not travel in cars on the 

Sabbath (“Shabbos”), and the Aleksander Shul is the only shul within walking distance of their 

homes.  The City, however, has taken various actions to shut down Orthodox Jewish shuls, 

including the Aleksander Shul, and the City’s zoning scheme makes it impossible to locate any 

parcel within the City where a place of worship can legally operate. 

5. Further, places of worship can only attempt to locate in a very small number of lots 

within the City, and even then, they are only permitted if the City grants various variances, which 

are subject to unconstrained discretion and are therefore an unconstitutional prior restraint on 

Plaintiffs’ religious expression and exercise. 

6. The Aleksander Shul is located in the City’s One Family Residential (“U-1”) 

zoning district.  Pursuant to University Heights Codified Ordinances (“UHCO”), houses of 

worship are not permitted anywhere in the City as of right, and are only allowed in three zoning 

districts upon obtaining a “Special Use Permit” (“SUP”) “subject to the standards and criteria of 

[UHCO] Chapter 1274” (“Chapter 1274”).  Chapter 1274, on its face, makes it impossible to 

operate a house of worship on any existing parcel in the City due to its restrictions.  Pursuant to 

Chapter 1274, houses of worship are prohibited unless the building has frontage on one of only six 

designated streets, and unless the parcel has a minimum lot area of three acres.  In the entire City, 

only three parcels meet these two criteria, and none of them meet all of the other numerous 

requirements of Chapter 1274.  The UHCO effectively prohibits any new houses of worship that 

can comply with its objective standards. 
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7. Since 2009, the City’s Orthodox Jewish community has grown in size and so has 

the need for more shuls, both to accommodate the additional people, as well as to accommodate 

the diversity of religious practices within Orthodox Judaism.  The UHCO has been imposed and 

implemented by the City in a manner that prevents them from being able to worship in the City.   

8. This action challenges the provisions of the UHCO, including but not limited to 

Chapter 1274, which burden, unreasonably limit and/or totally exclude houses of worship 

throughout the City, thereby violating Plaintiffs’ right to free exercise of their religion as 

guaranteed by the United States and Ohio Constitutions, RLUIPA, and Ohio common law. 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343(3), (4), 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc, et seq., and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, which confer 

original jurisdiction on federal district courts in suits to redress the deprivation of rights, privileges 

and immunities secured by the laws and Constitution of the United States.  This Court has 

supplemental jurisdiction over all state law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

10. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), because the acts 

and transactions complained of occurred, and continue to occur in this District. 

 

PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff Aleksander Shul is a non-profit religious corporation organized under the 

laws of the State of Ohio on December 27, 2010. 

12. Plaintiff Denciger is and was an adult citizen of the State of Ohio and at all times 

relevant to this action resided at 4380 University Parkway, University Heights, Ohio, 44118 

(hereinafter the “Property”). 
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13. Plaintiff University Realty USA LLC is a limited liability company organized 

under the laws of the State of Ohio on December 13, 2017 and has been the record owner of the 

Property since December 21, 2017. 

14. Defendant City of University Heights is a chartered municipal corporation in 

Cuyahoga County, Ohio having offices at 2300 Warrensville Center Road, University Heights, 

Ohio 44118. 

15. Dave Yost is the Attorney General of the State of Ohio and is named solely for 

purpose of notice pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 2721.12. 

 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

The Aleksander Shul 

16. Since 2009, Denciger has resided at the Property with his family, initially as the 

owner and subsequently as a tenant of University Realty USA LLC (“URU”). 

17. When Denciger moved to the City, there was no shul in the City where Denciger 

could exercise his religion.   

18. Denciger practices Orthodox Judaism according to the beliefs and traditions of the 

Aleksander sect of Chassidic Jews that originated in Poland.   

19. Prior to the Holocaust, Aleksander was one of the largest sects of Chassidic Jews 

in Poland, with over 400 Aleksander shuls; but the vast majority of the members of Aleksander 

were murdered by the Nazis during the Holocaust.   

20. Today, only a small remnant of Aleksander remains.   

21. As part of their religious exercise, Orthodox Jews are required to pray with a 

gathering of at least ten men (a “minyan”) three times daily, in the morning, late afternoon, and 

evening; accordingly, shuls typically feature two daily minyanim, one for the morning prayer, and 

one in the evening for the late afternoon and evening prayers.   
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22. On the weekly period known as Shabbos, which begins on Friday at sunset and 

ends Saturday at nightfall, Orthodox Jews do not travel in cars.   

23. Accordingly, Orthodox Jews are required to walk back and forth to a shul three 

times every week, once on Friday evening, once on Saturday morning, and once on Saturday 

evening.   

24. To properly exercise their religion, Orthodox Jews must have a shul in the part of 

the community where the people live. 

25. As a member of Aleksander, Denciger exercises his religion by praying in the 

Polish Chassidic style, which uses a different liturgy and a different prayer book from the Western 

European Jewish prayer style.   

26. Denciger also exercises his religion by singing the prayers in the sacred centuries-

old melodies unique to Aleksander, and by learning the Torah according to the teachings of the 

Rabbis of Aleksander who lived in Poland prior to the Holocaust.   

27. Beginning in 2009, Denciger exercised his religion in his home at the Property.  He 

has a large family with sixteen children, so by inviting a few neighbors he always had the necessary 

minyan of ten men to pray.    

28. Denciger made an open invitation to his neighbors to join him for Shabbos and 

Jewish holidays to observe the Jewish religious rituals, pray, and study the Torah.   

29. Denciger’s open invitation to join him in prayer gradually gained popularity, such 

that by 2013, the Property had gradually and organically come to be known throughout the City as 

the Aleksander Shul. 

30. Denciger continued to use the Property as his residence, and URU consented to 

Denciger’s use of the Property as both a residence and as the Aleksander Shul. 

31. Numerous neighbors depend on the Aleksander Shul to exercise their religion 

because it is the only Orthodox Jewish house of worship that is within walking distance of their 
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homes. 

32. For Denciger and other residents of the City who pray in the Polish Chassidic style, 

the Aleksander Shul is the only shul within walking distance where they can do so.   

33. Upon information and belief, the Aleksander Shul is the only shul in the state of 

Ohio that offers prayer in the Polish Chassidic style.  

34. Plaintiff Aleksander Shul is one of the only Aleksander shuls in the country; upon 

information and belief, the closest Aleksander shul is located 450 miles away in Brooklyn, New 

York. 

35. Some of the people who come to pray at the Aleksander Shul are old and/or infirm 

and the Aleksander Shul is the only Orthodox Jewish shul that is close enough to walk to on 

Shabbos to exercise their religion. 

36. For example, one member of the Aleksander Shul has a terminal illness and is 

confined to a wheelchair.  Because of its close proximity, the Aleksander Shul is the only shul that 

is possible for her to go to on Shabbos. If the Aleksander Shul were shut down, she would not be 

able to exercise her religion. 

37. For many families with young children, the Aleksander Shul is the only shul that is 

close enough for their children to walk to on Shabbos.  If the Aleksander Shul were to shut down 

or move to a location not within walking distance, they would have no other alternative shul to 

bring their children to on Shabbos. 

38. In September of 2019, the City filed criminal charges against URU for operating 

the Shul without a permit. 

39. URU pled no contest to the charges brought by the City in September of 2019, with 

the caveat that it did not waive any rights to contest the constitutionality of the ordinance that 

prohibited the use of the Property for a house of worship in a residential zoning district. 

40. The Shaker Heights Municipal Court imposed $940,000.00 in fines on URU for 
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operating a house of worship without a permit. 

41. In October 2019, URU applied to the City’s Planning Commission (“Planning 

Commission”) for a SUP to operate a shul at the Property. 

42. However, because of the COVID-19 pandemic and the City’s actions, URU’s 

application still has not been decided and URU continues to suffer from limitations imposed upon 

its use of the Property by virtue of the operation of the UHCO. 

43. At a meeting of the Planning Commission on November 21, 2019, the City 

extended the hearing deadline until February 2020. 

44. At a meeting of the Planning Commission on February 8, 2020, the Planning 

Commission once again extended the hearing deadline until June of 2020. 

45. From March 2020 until October 2020, the City’s municipal operations were 

suspended due to the pandemic. 

46. Further, from April 2020 until March 2021, the City did not have a full-time 

building commissioner. 

47. Beginning in March of 2020, due to the pandemic, Denciger did not allow anyone 

to gather for prayer or for any meetings indoors at the Property. 

48. On February 19, 2021, the City sent a cease-and-desist letter to Plaintiffs forbidding 

the use of the Property as a house of worship because, inter alia, it claimed that such use violated 

the UHCO. 

49. On June 7, 2021, the City filed a Complaint against Plaintiffs in Cuyahoga County 

Court of Common Pleas and sought a temporary restraining order and preliminary and permanent 

injunctions against Plaintiffs prohibiting Plaintiffs from operating a house of worship at the 

Property. 

50. On June 14, 2021, a temporary restraining order was entered, whereby Plaintiffs 

were prevented “from making any submissions to, or otherwise attempting to appear on the agenda 
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of, the City of University Heights’ Planning Commission prior to the scheduled hearing on the 

Preliminary Injunction set for July 29, 2021.” 

51. At the City Council meeting on June 21, 2021, City Mayor Michael Dylan Brennan 

(“Mayor Brennan”) stated in a written statement which he read on the record: 

I want to be very clear, that while the city did stipulate on June 14, 2021, to 
allow limited operation [of the Aleksander Shul] to continue, this is merely 
to afford time to allow the congregation to make alternative arrangements. . 
. .  I am saying this publicly, and on the record, so that there is no question 
as to where the city stands on the enforcement of its laws, or on its position 
in this matter.  Come July 29, 2021, 4380 University Place may be a 
residence and nothing more. 

52. On July 27, 2021, the parties consented to an amended temporary restraining order 

that permitted Plaintiffs to appear on the agenda of the Planning Commission. 

53. Plaintiffs requested to appear on the agenda for September 2, 2021. 

54. On August 30, 2021, Mayor Brennan, who chairs the Planning Commission, 

notified Plaintiffs that he had canceled the scheduled September 2, 2021 meeting, “due to conflicts 

with the commission members’ schedules / lack of quorum” and that “there will either be a special 

meeting or (more likely, given the holidays and the anticipated scarcity of available dates) the 

agenda item will be the next regular meeting in October on October 7th.” 

55. A SUP hearing is anticipated to be scheduled for November 2021. 

56. Being subject to the terms of the temporary restraining order, the Plaintiffs have 

endured continued hardships and have been unable to fully exercise their religion at the Property.   

57. Services at the Property are limited to only 36 people. 

58. Services are permitted only on Shabbos and the high holidays of Rosh Hashanah, 

Yom Kippur, and Sukkot. 

59. Services are not permitted on any other days under any circumstances. 

60. Services are not permitted on the morning prior to Yom Kippur, thereby causing 

the Aleksander Shul to cancel an important annual Aleksander prayer service. 
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61. Services are not permitted for the fast of Gedalia, the days of repentance, the 

Selichos prayers, and a number of other Jewish holidays. 

62. On the High Holiday of Rosh Hashanah, the City Mayor authorized a private 

investigator to spy on Plaintiffs and the Property. 

63. On one of the holiest days of Jewish year, the private investigator sat for hours in a 

suspicious unmarked vehicle across the street from the Property.   

64. Because of the recent rise in hate crimes against Jews, many Jewish residents and 

members of the Aleksander Shul were frightened by the presence of a suspicious man in an 

unmarked vehicle; private security and the City police had to be notified.   

65. The incident was traumatic to some members of the Aleksander Shul. 

 

The City’s Land Use Regulations Applicable to Plaintiff’s Property. 

Houses of Worship Are Only Permitted Within the City’s U-1, U-2, and U-4 Zoning 
Districts and Only Upon Obtaining a Special Use Permit Subject to the Standards and 

Criteria of Chapter 1274. 

66. The City regulates land use in its jurisdiction in part through the UHCO. 

67. There is no definition of “houses of worship” in the UHCO. 

68. Upon information and belief, the City considers any regular weekly gathering of 

ten (10) or more people in a residential house for the purpose of prayer to be a house of worship. 

69. The Aleksander Shul is a house of worship.  

70. Pursuant to UHCO Chapter 1248, there are nine zoning districts in the City.   

71. The City’s zoning districts are designated U-1 through U-9, referred to by the 

following letter and numerical designations: U-1, One-Family Residence Districts; U-2, Two-

Family Residence Districts; U-3, Automobile Parking Districts; U-4, Multi-Family Residence 

Districts; U-5, University-College Districts; U-6, Office Building Districts; U-7, Local Retail 

Districts; U-8, Shopping Center Districts; and U-9, Mixed Use District. 
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72. Houses of worship are not permitted as of right within any of the zoning districts in 

the City.   

73. Houses of worship are not permitted by right or with a special use permit in the 

City’s zoning districts U-3, U-5, U-6, U-7, U-8, and U-9. 

74. Pursuant to UHCO § 1250.02(g), the U-1 zoning district permits “[p]ublic, semi-

public and other uses permitted upon [SUP] subject to the standards and criteria of Chapter 1274.”  

75. Pursuant to UHCO § 1274.01(b)(1), “Public, semi-public and other uses” includes 

“Houses of worship or religious education, including churches, temples, synagogues, religious 

organizations, parish houses and parochial schools.”  

76. Pursuant to UHCO § 1252.02(a), the U-2 zoning district permits “[a]ll uses 

permitted in One-Family Residence Districts (U-1) and as regulated in such Districts, except as 

modified hereinafter [in UHCO Chapter 1252].” 

77. The provision of U-1 regarding “Public, semi-public and other uses” is not modified 

in UHCO Chapter 1252, and is therefore the same for U-2 as it is for U-1. 

78. Pursuant to UHCO § 1256.02(a), the U-4 zoning district permits, “[a]ll uses 

permitted in One-Family Residence Districts (U-1) and as regulated in such Districts, except as 

modified hereinafter [in UHCO Chapter 1256].” 

79. The provision of U-1 regarding “Public, semi-public and other uses” is only 

modified in UHCO Chapter 1256 with respect to the minimum yard width requirements. 

80. Accordingly, pursuant to §§ 1250.02(g), 1252.02(a), 1256.02(a) and 1274.01(a), 

houses of worship are only permitted in the City’s U-1, U-2, and U-4 zoning districts, and only 

upon issuance of a SUP “subject to the standards and criteria of Chapter 1274.” 

The SUP Process for a House of Worship in a U-1, U-2, or U-4 Zoning District 

81. UHCO § 1274.01(a) provides the “standards and criteria” that must be met for 
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issuance of a SUP to operate a house of worship in a U-1, U-2, or U-4 zoning district.  

82. Chapter 1274 provides that it “is established in order to permit, under special 

circumstances and conditions, uses which foster the most desirable use of the land in the City; 

which insure [sic] compatibility and stability with existing and proposed adjacent uses; and which 

harmonize and integrate into the existing zoning and use plans those special uses authorized under 

special [use] permit recommended by the Planning Commission as approved by Council in the U-

1, U-2 and U-4 residential districts.”  

83. Pursuant to UHCO § 1274.01(d), to obtain a SUP for a house of worship in a U-1, 

U-2, or U-4 zoning district, an applicant must first apply to the City’s Planning Commission and 

obtain the Planning Commission’s recommendation to grant the SUP.  

84.  To obtain a recommendation from the Planning Commission, the applicant must 

“demonstrate[] to the Planning Commission by clear and convincing evidence that the provisions 

of [Chapter 1274] will be met and that the special use will not impair surrounding property values 

or uses, vehicular parking and pedestrian or traffic conditions, lighting glare at night, noise 

pollution to others or other applicable criteria in the Planning and Zoning Code, and will not be 

otherwise contrary to the public health, safety and welfare.” 

85. If the applicant meets this burden, UHCO § 1274.01(d) provides that the Planning 

Commission shall issue its recommendation if the application is for use within a “permitted 

location.” 

86. The recommendation is “subject to any reasonable conditions the Planning 

Commission may impose uniformly in similar circumstances.” 

87. If an applicant is successful in obtaining the recommendation of the Planning 

Commission, pursuant to UHCO § 1274.01(d)(2), “[t]he recommendation of the Planning 

Commission shall be subject to the approval of a majority of [City] Council.” 

88. UHCO § 1274.01(d)(3) provides that “[u]pon approval by [City] Council, a 
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certificate of occupancy should be issued.” 

89. UHCO § 1274(d)(2) provides no standards that the City Council must adhere to 

when considering whether to grant approval for an application for an SUP. 

90. City Council is the City’s elected legislative body. 

91. The City’s elected legislative body has unbridled discretion in approving or denying 

a SUP for a house of worship in the City.  

 
The Provisions of Chapter 1274 that Must Be Satisfied to Obtain a SUP and Variances for 

a House of Worship in a U-1, U-2, or U-4 Zoning District 

92. The provisions of Chapter 1274 that must be satisfied in order to be considered for 

a SUP include requirements with respect to location, minimum lot size, yard size, height, 

landscaping, and more.   

93. Pursuant to UHCO §§ 1274.02(e)(1) and 1274.02(f)(3), houses of worship are only 

permitted in the U-1, U-2, and U-4 zoning districts if they have frontage on one of the following 

six (6) streets: Cedar Road, Warrensville Center Road, South Taylor Road, Fairmount Boulevard, 

North Park Boulevard, Green Road (the “Permitted Streets”).  

94. Pursuant to UHCO § 1274.02(a)(1), houses of worship in the U-1, U-2, and U-4 

zoning districts require a minimum lot area of three (3) acres.  

95. Pursuant to UHCO §§ 1274.02(f)(1), (2), and (4), houses of worship must conform 

to the following restrictions: 

● A building may only be used as a house of worship if it was originally designed 
and approved for use as a house of worship.  

● A residence, store or other building cannot be converted into a house of 
worship.  

● A house of worship cannot include a residence on any part of the site.  

96. Additionally, any house of worship must conform with the following requirements 

of Chapter 1274: 
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● The building cannot exceed 25% of the total lot area, pursuant to UHCO § 
1274.02(a). 

● A minimum of 50% of the site shall be devoted to open space and developed as 
planted areas, pursuant to UHCO § 1273.03(b). 

● Minimum lot frontage is 150 feet, pursuant to UHCO § 1274.02(a)(2). 

● The front yard must be a minimum of 75 feet deep, pursuant to UHCO § 
1274.02(b)(1). 

● For houses of worship in a U-1 or U-2 zoning district, rear and side yard 
setbacks must be a minimum of 50 feet if the yard is adjacent to a U-1, U-2 or 
U-4 zoning districts, pursuant to UHCO § 1274.02(b)(2); for houses of worship 
in U-4 zoning districts, rear and side yard setbacks must be a minimum of 30 
feet, pursuant to UHCO § 1256.02(d)(2). 

97. Pursuant to UHCO § 1274.04(c), the minimum parking requirement for a house of 

worship is the greater of: 

● One space per 200 square feet of gross floor area of the entire building including 
the basement, measured from the exterior faces of the building (not less than 30 
spaces); 

● One parking space for each two seats provided within any and all rooms used 
for assembly; and 

● One parking space for each two persons allowed as legal maximum occupancy. 

98. Pursuant to UHCO § 1274.02(f)(5), “No variance from any of the requirements or 

prohibitions under Chapter 1274 may be granted without the approval of the Planning Commission 

and the approval of Council, each following public hearings at which the applicant demonstrates 

a clear benefit to the community and that denial will result in an unnecessary hardship to the 

applicant.” 

99. Pursuant to UHCO § 1274.02(e)(2), “A special use permit may be issued by the 

Planning Commission for land fronting on other streets where the applicant demonstrates by clear 

and convincing evidence that the use will benefit and not impair surrounding property values or 

uses, vehicular parking and pedestrian congestion or traffic conditions, noise pollution and will 

not be otherwise contrary to the public health, safety or welfare, subject to the approval of a 
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majority of Council.” 

100. All requirements in paragraphs 92 through 99 above apply equally to U-1, U-2, and 

U-4 zoning districts, except with respect to the minimum yard requirements in the U-4 zoning 

district. 

UHCO Chapter 1274 Imposes Land Use Regulations that Unreasonably Limit and Totally 
Exclude Religious Assemblies, Institutions, and Structures from the City. 

101. The provisions of Chapter 1274 are so restrictive that no applicant can meet them 

and therefore any prospective house of worship is both unreasonably limited and totally excluded 

from the City. 

102. Further, the standards for issuing a SUP or a variance to the provisions of Chapter 

1274 give unbridled discretion to the decision-making bodies, including the elected legislative 

body, and therefore constitute a prior restraint on religious expression and exercise. 

103. Upon information and belief, there are a total of 315 parcels of land in the U-1, U-

2, and U-4 zoning districts that have the required frontage on one of the Permitted Streets. 

104. The average parcel size of all parcels of land that are in the U-1, U-2, or U-4 zoning 

districts that have the required frontage on one of the Permitted Streets is 0.4 acres.   

105. Of those 315 parcels of land, only three (3) parcels have a minimum lot size of three 

acres, required for a house of worship pursuant to § 1274.02(a)(1). 

106. Of those three (3) parcels greater than three acres in size, only two (2) parcels meet 

the minimum requirement of 150 feet of lot frontage required for a house of worship pursuant to 

§ 1274.02(a)(2). 

107. One of those parcels is owned by Jewish Family Experience, which currently 

operates a center for religious education. 

108. The other parcel is owned by Bellefaire Jewish Children’s Bureau which currently 

operates a child service agency. 
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109. Upon information and belief, neither of these two parcels are available for sale. 

110. The parcel owned by Jewish Family Experience does not meet the minimum 

requirement of 50% open space required for a house of worship. 

111. The parcel owned by Bellefaire Jewish Children’s Bureau does not meet the 

requirement that the buildings be originally designed for use as a house of worship. 

112. Accordingly, there are zero (0) parcels of land in the City that meet the necessary 

requirements of Chapter 1274 to obtain an SUP for a house of worship. 

113. Upon information and belief, there are zero (0) parcels of land in the City that are 

located on one of the Permitted Streets and have the minimum requirement of 150 lot frontage for 

a house of worship and are available to purchase. 

Chapter 1274 Constitutes a Prior Restraint to Religious Exercise Because It Grants the 
City Unbridled Discretion to Grant or to Deny a SUP for a House of Worship 

114. Even if a parcel did exist that met the requirements of Chapter 1274 to operate a 

house of worship, the UHCO provides no standard to which the City Council must adhere when 

deciding whether to grant or deny an application for a SUP. 

115. As set forth above, UHCO § 1274.01(d) first requires that an applicant obtain a 

recommendation from the Planning Commission for a SUP, and then, if provided, such 

recommendation must be approved by City Council. 

116. No standard is provided for City Council when considering whether to approve or 

deny an application for a SUP.  

117. The City Council has unbridled discretion to deny an application for a SUP for a 

house of worship for any reason.   

118. As there are no parcels in the City that meet the requirements of Chapter 1274, any 

application for an SUP would also require a variance or multiple variances from the Planning 

Commission and City Council.  
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119. Pursuant to UHCO § 1274.02(f)(5), variances require the approval of both the 

Planning Commission and City Council, “each following public hearings at which the applicant 

demonstrates a clear benefit to the community and that denial will result in an unnecessary 

hardship to the applicant.”  

120. The standard of “a clear benefit to the community” lacks any narrow, objective, and 

definite standards to guide the Planning Commission or the City Council.   

121. Pursuant to UHCO § 1274.02(e)(2), “A special use permit may be issued by the 

Planning Commission for land fronting on other streets where the applicant demonstrates by clear 

and convincing evidence that the use will benefit and not impair surrounding property values or 

uses, vehicular parking and pedestrian congestion or traffic conditions, noise pollution and will 

not be otherwise contrary to the public health, safety or welfare, subject to the approval of a 

majority of Council.” 

122.  Pursuant to UHCO § 1274.04(c)(4), “For exceptional circumstances or in cases of 

clear hardship, the Planning Commission, may, after consideration of the proposed building or use, 

recommend a parking variance subject to the approval, modification or rejection of Council, and 

provided that such variance will not violate the spirit or intent of this chapter and provided further 

that a more harmonious and beneficial use of the property will result.” 

123. The standards “that such variance will not violate the spirit or intent of this chapter 

and provided further that a more harmonious and beneficial use of the property will result” lacks 

any narrow, objective, and definite standards to guide the Planning Commission or the City 

Council.  

124. Pursuant to the standards set forth in Chapter 1274, both the Planning Commission 

and the City Council have unbridled discretion to deny a variance for any reason. 

125. Chapter 1274 lacks any reasonable time limits for which City Council must render 

a decision. 
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Chapter 1274 on Its Face Substantially Burdens Plaintiffs from Exercising Their Religion 

126. Chapter 1274 substantially burdens Plaintiffs’ exercise of religion by depriving 

them of the ability to exercise their religion in a house of worship that conforms with their religious 

beliefs within reasonable walking distance of their homes. 

127. There are no other properties in the City that provide feasible alternatives for 

Plaintiffs to carry on their mission. 

128. The City’s zoning regulations that pertain to the religious use of property within its 

jurisdiction create substantial uncertainty, delay and expense for Plaintiffs. 

The City Has Enforced the UHCO to Prevent Orthodox Jewish Religious Worship 

129. In addition to the enforcement action taken against the Aleksander Shul, as 

described above, the City has taken similar action against other Orthodox Jewish shuls. 

130. Pursuant to UHCO § 1242.99(b), “any use of any land or building which is 

conducted, operated or maintained contrary to any of the provisions of this Zoning Code shall be 

unlawful.” 

131. Furthermore, any such violations are subject to the penalties of fines and 

imprisonment, pursuant to UHCO § 1242.99(a). 

132. In 2021, the City shut down at least three other groups of Orthodox Jews that 

attempted to gather for prayer in residential houses in the City.   

133. In January of 2021, the City took zoning enforcement action against the Orthodox 

Jewish prayer group Kehillat Heichal Hakodesh. 

134. In January of 2021, the City took zoning enforcement action against resident Daniel 

Grand for inviting neighbors to gather for Orthodox Jewish prayer. 

135. In May of 2021, the City took zoning enforcement action against the owner of 4136 

University Parkway for allegedly hosting an Orthodox Jewish prayer group. 
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Enforcement of Chapter 1274 against Kehillat Heichal Hakodesh 

136. On January 3, 2021, the City became aware that the Orthodox Jewish owners of a 

house at 4464 Churchill Boulevard in the City intended to open the house as a meeting place for a 

group for “Jewish learning and prayer.”  

137. This group was called Kehillat Heichal Hakodesh (“KHH”). 

138. The first prayer gathering at KHH was scheduled for February 5, 2021. 

139. On January 11, 2021, the City sent a cease-and-desist letter to KHH. 

140. On February 5, 2021, the City filed and obtained a Motion for a Temporary 

Restraining Order against KHH. 

141. Upon information and belief, on Friday, February 5, 2021, immediately upon 

receiving the Temporary Restraining Order, the City dispatched a City employee to 4464 Churchill 

Boulevard. 

142. Upon information and belief, the City employee was sent to monitor and ensure that 

no Orthodox Jews gathered for prayer at 4464 Churchill Boulevard. 

 

Enforcement Action Against Daniel Grand 

143. On January 10, 2021, Daniel Grand (“Grand”), the Orthodox Jewish owner of 2343 

Miramar Boulevard in the City (the “Grand Property”) sent a private email to ten or so Orthodox 

Jewish neighbors.  

144. In the email, Grand invited his friends to join him in his home for Orthodox Jewish 

prayer on Shabbos. 

145. On January 21, 2021, the City sent a cease-and-desist letter to Grand and his wife 

accusing them of intending to use their house as a “place of religious assembly and operation of a 

shul,” in violation of the City’s zoning laws. 

Case: 1:21-cv-01945-JG  Doc #: 1  Filed:  10/13/21  19 of 29.  PageID #: 19



20 
 

146. On January 22, 2021, Grand sent an email to the clerk for the Commission stating 

that he intended to fill out an application “for a special use permit with the city planning commission 

to have friends come over to pray at my house.” 

147. That same day, Grand submitted an application for a SUP for a place of religious 

assembly in his home at 2343 Miramar Boulevard (the “Grand Application”). 

148. The Grand Application did not indicate that he intended to make any improvements 

to his home. 

149. The Grand Application stated that “no one will be parking in my driveway - except 

my wife and myself - and on Sabbath people can not bring car [sic] either.” 

150. A hearing on the Grand Application was held at the Planning Commission meeting 

on March 4, 2021. 

151. The Planning Commission meeting went longer than anticipated, and the Planning 

Commission voted to table the application.  

152. A second hearing on the Grand Application was scheduled for the Planning 

Commission meeting on March 23, 2021, but Grand withdrew his application just prior to the 

meeting. 

153. At the March 23, 2021 Planning Commission meeting, Mayor Brennan stated: 

Let there be no confusion: Congregating at 2343 Miramar Blvd., or any other 
address located in a residence zoned U-1, without a special-use SUP is a 
violation of city law. I am hopeful that the wording of the withdrawal is not 
intended to suggest that congregating weekly at a residence to conduct 
activities consistent with those in a house of assembly does not require a 
special-use SUP.  As recently as two months ago, the city brought suit 
against the organizers of another residential shul, one on Churchill 
Boulevard, and ultimately obtained a permanent injunction in court. 
 
To the community members who are here, let there be no question. There is 
no permission granted here to operate … a house of assembly or conduct 
activities consistent with one at 2343 Miramar Blvd. If you observe such 
activities – I hope you do not – but if you do, you may report them to the 

Case: 1:21-cv-01945-JG  Doc #: 1  Filed:  10/13/21  20 of 29.  PageID #: 20



21 
 

city, and the city will enforce its laws. … And we will seek all appropriate 
remedies in court. 

 
Enforcement of Chapter 1274 Against the Owner of 4136 University Parkway 

154. At the May 3, 2021 meeting of the City Council, a single City resident complained 

that the owner of a house on 4136 University Parkway was using the residence as a house of 

worship. 

155. Upon information and belief, it was known to the City and the resident who 

complained that 4136 University Parkway is owned by an Orthodox Jewish person. 

156. The City Law Director assured the resident that a cease-and-desist letter was being 

sent to 4136 University Parkway, and that “the City’s position for what he was describing is not 

permitted.  There are strategies in place that begin with a cease-and-desist letter to enforce the city’s 

ordinances.”  (Emphasis added.) 

 
The UHCO, on Its Face, Imposes Land Use Regulations in a Manner that Treats Religious 

Institutions on Less than Equal Terms with Non-Religious Institutions 

Within the U-1, U-2, and U-4 Zoning Districts, Nonreligious Assembly and Institutional 
Uses Are Permitted as of Right While Religious Assembly and Institutional Uses Require a 

SUP.  

157. Pursuant to § 1250.02, included in the list of “permitted uses” in the U-1 zoning 

district are: “(b) Buildings, structures and grounds owned and operated by a board of education, 

municipality or by a library board.” 

158.  Pursuant to § 1252.02, included in the list of “permitted uses” in the U-2 zoning 

district are: “(a) All uses permitted in One-Family Residence Districts and as regulated in such 

Districts, except as modified hereinafter.” 

159. Pursuant to § 1256.02, included in the list of “permitted uses” in the U-4 zoning 

district are: “(a) All uses permitted in Two-Family Districts (Section 1252.02) and as regulated in 

such Districts, except as modified hereinafter.” 
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160. Buildings, structures and grounds owned and operated by a board of education, 

municipality or by a library board are not subject to the requirements of Chapter 1274. 

161. Buildings, structures and grounds owned and operated by a board of education, 

municipality or by a library board are not subject to the requirement of having to obtain a SUP. 

162. The UHCO permits as of right the principal uses of “Buildings, structures and 

grounds owned and operated by a board of education, municipality or by a library board,” within 

the U-1, U-2, and U-4 zoning districts without requiring a SUP.  

163. “Buildings, structures and grounds owned and operated by a board of education, 

municipality, or by a library board” uses are nonreligious assembly and/or institutional land uses. 

164. “Buildings, structures and grounds owned and operated by a board of education, 

municipality, or by a library board” may have equal or greater land use impacts, including traffic 

and parking impacts, than a house of worship.   

165. Accordingly, on its face, UHCO Chapters 1250, 1252, and 1256 treat houses of 

worship on less than equal terms as nonreligious assembly and institutional uses. 

 

The UHCO Permits Other Non-Religious Assembly and Institutional Uses by Right Within 
the City’s Jurisdiction, While Houses of Worship Are Not Permitted by Right Anywhere. 

166. The UHCO permits by right various nonreligious assembly and institutional uses 

within certain zoning districts, while houses of worship are not permitted by right anywhere within 

the City. 

167. As described above, houses of worship are not permitted by right anywhere in the 

City. 

168. The UHCO allows various nonreligious assembly and institutional uses within 

certain zoning districts without being subject to Chapter 1274, while houses of worship are subject 

to Chapter 1274 anywhere they are located in the City. 
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169. Pursuant to UHCO § 1258.02, “athletic fields and stadia or other spectator seating 

facility” are permitted as of right in the U-5 zoning district, and are not subject to Chapter 1274. 

170. “[A]thletic fields and stadia or other spectator seating facility” may have equal or 

greater land use impacts, including traffic and parking impacts, than a house of worship.   

171. Pursuant to UHCO § 1260, “Office buildings: professional, administrative, 

executive, governmental” are permitted as of right in the U-6 zoning district, and are not subject 

to Chapter 1274. 

172. “Office buildings: professional, administrative, executive, governmental” may 

have equal or greater land use impacts, including traffic and parking impacts, than a house of 

worship.   

173. Pursuant to UHCO § 1264.02, “assembly halls” are permitted in the U-8 zoning 

district as of right, and are not subject to Chapter 1274. 

174. “[A]ssembly halls” may have equal or greater land use impacts, including traffic 

and parking impacts, than a house of worship.   

175. Pursuant to UHCO § 1266.02, the following nonreligious assembly and/or 

institutional uses are permitted in the U-9 zoning district as of right: Libraries, Museums, 

Community Theaters, Assembly Halls, and Meeting Places. 

176. Houses of worship are treated on less than equal terms as “athletic fields and stadia 

or other spectator seating facility,” “Office buildings,” “Libraries,” “Museums,” “Community 

Theaters,” “Assembly Halls,” and “Meeting Places,” because the latter uses have the opportunity 

to locate somewhere within the City without being subject to the burdensome requirements and 

highly discretionary review procedures of Chapter 1274 and the SUP requirement, while houses 

of worship do not. 
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Impact of UHCO’s Burdensome and Unreasonable Regulations 

177. The Defendant’s zoning scheme has rendered Plaintiffs’ religious exercise 

effectively impracticable. 

178. If the Aleksander Shul was permitted to operate on the Property under the UHCO, 

its operation would affect interstate commerce. 

179. The Shul’s operation would affect interstate commerce by or through, among other 

things, serving as a site for ongoing fundraising; its receipt of charitable donations from persons 

working or living outside of the State of Ohio; providing a house of worship for the families of 

congregants visiting from other states; the use of means of interstate communication to facilitate 

the Shul’s ongoing operations; the use of interstate travel related to the Shul’s ongoing operations; 

the employment of any part-time or full-time employees; the purchase of goods and services 

related to the Shul’s ongoing operations and maintenance; and the hosting of any religious leaders 

visiting the Plaintiffs’ religious community from out of state. 

180. The Defendant’s actions described above all took place under color of state law. 

181. The harm to the Plaintiffs caused by the Defendant’s laws and actions, which 

prevent them from operating a house of worship to accommodate their religious needs, is 

immediate and severe. 

182. Defendant’s laws and actions imminently threaten Plaintiffs’ free exercise of 

religion. 

183. There are no quick, reliable and viable options for Plaintiffs to construct a facility 

in the City. 

184. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law for the harm and damage caused by 

Defendant’s wrongful laws and actions. 

185. Plaintiffs have also suffered significant financial damages as a result of the 
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Defendant’s laws and their application to the Plaintiffs, such as costs related to its SUP application 

and required additional expenditures to conduct activities and gatherings at rented locations. 

COUNT I 

Violation of Religious Land Use and Institutionalized  
Persons Act of 2000 – “Substantial Burdens”  

42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(a)  

186. Paragraphs 1 through 185 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein.  

187. Defendant has deprived and continues to deprive the Plaintiffs of their right to the 

free exercise of religion, as secured by RLUIPA, by imposing and implementing land use 

regulations in a manner that substantial burdens Plaintiffs’ religious exercise without using the 

least restrictive means of achieving a compelling governmental interest.  

 

COUNT II 

Violation of Religious Land Use and Institutionalized  
Persons Act of 2000 – “Equal Terms” 

42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(b)(1)  

188. Paragraphs 1 through 187 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein. 

189. Defendant has deprived and continue to deprive Plaintiffs of their right to the free 

exercise of religion, as secured by RLUIPA, by imposing and implementing land use regulations 

in a manner that treats religious land use on terms that are less than equal to nonreligious assembly 

and institutional land uses. 

 

COUNT III 

Violation of Religious Land Use and Institutionalized  
Persons Act of 2000 – “Unreasonable Limitations” 

42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(b)(3)(B) 
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190. Paragraphs 1 through 189 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein. 

191. Defendant has deprived and continues to deprive the Plaintiffs of their right to the 

free exercise of religion, as secured by RLUIPA, by imposing and implementing land use 

regulations in a manner that unreasonably limits religious assemblies, institutions, and structures 

within their jurisdiction. 

 
COUNT IV 

United States Constitution  
42 U.S.C. § 1983: First Amendment  

Free Exercise of Religion  

192. Paragraphs 1 through 191 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein.  

193. Defendant has deprived and continues to deprive the Plaintiffs of their right to free 

exercise of religion, as secured by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and made 

applicable to the States by the Fourteenth Amendment, by implementing land use regulations both 

on their face and as applied in a manner that burdens the Plaintiffs’ religious exercise without using 

the least restrictive means of achieving a compelling governmental interest.  

 

COUNT V 

First Amendment to the United States Constitution 
Prior Restraint 
42 U.S.C. § 1983 

 
194. Paragraphs 1 through 193 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein. 

195. The UHCO contains no articulated standards with respect to review by City Council 

of an application for a SUP for a house of worship in a residential zone or for variance approval 

by the City Council or the Planning Commission when reviewing the same, and, as such, are an 

unconstitutional prior restraint on Plaintiffs’ protected religious expression and exercise under the 

First Amendment.  The lack of such standards unconstitutionally provides the City Council and 
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the Planning Commission with unbridled discretion in its review of such applications for a house 

of worship. 

 

COUNT VI 

Ohio State Constitution  
Article I Section 7 

Rights of Conscience; education; the necessity of religion and knowledge 
 

196. Paragraphs 1 through 195 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein. 

197. Defendant has interfered with the Plaintiffs’ right to worship Almighty God 

according to the dictates of their own conscience, without using the least restrictive means of 

achieving a compelling governmental interest. 

 

COUNT VII 

Ohio Common Law 

198. Paragraphs 1 through 197 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein.  

199. The Defendant has deprived and continues to deprive Plaintiffs of their common 

law right to a house of worship “in that part of the community where the people live,” see State ex 

rel. Anshe Chesed Congregation v. Bruggemeier, et al., 97 Ohio App. 67, 76, 115 N.E.2d 65, 69 

(8th Dist. 1953), by implementing and imposing land use regulations as applied in a manner that 

will deprive the members of the Aleksander Shul of a house of worship in the part of the 

community where the people live. 

 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court grant the following relief: 
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A. A declaration that the City’s land use ordinances, to the extent that they substantially 

burden, exclude, unreasonably regulate, and discriminate against the Plaintiffs’ land 

use, are void, invalid and unconstitutional on their face on the ground that they violate 

the Free Exercise and Free Speech Clauses of the First Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act, the Free 

Exercise Clause of the Ohio Constitution, and Ohio Common Law; 

B. A declaration that the City’s land use ordinances, to the extent that they provide 

unbridled discretion to City decision makers when reviewing an application for a SUP 

or variances for a house of worship, and provide no reasonable time limits to obtain 

such decision, are void, invalid and unconstitutional on their face on the ground that 

they violate the First Amendment to the United States Constitution as a prior restraint 

on religious expression and exercise. 

C. Preliminary and permanent orders enjoining the Defendant, its officers, employees, 

agents, successors and all others acting in concert with Defendant from applying their 

laws in a manner that violates the Free Exercise and Free Speech Clauses of the First 

Amendment to the United States Constitution, the Religious Land Use and 

Institutionalized Persons Act, the Free Exercise Clause of the Ohio Constitution, and 

Ohio Common Law, or undertaking any and all action in furtherance of these acts; 

D. Preliminary and permanent orders permitting Plaintiffs to use the Property as a shul, 

subject to conditions as may be necessary to protect the public health and safety; 

E. An award of compensatory damages against Defendant in favor of the Plaintiffs as the 

Court deems just for the loss of their rights under the First Amendment to the United 

States Constitution, the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act, the Ohio 

State Constitution, and Ohio Common Law incurred by the Plaintiffs and caused by the 

Defendant’s laws and actions; 
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F. An award to the Plaintiffs of full costs and attorneys’ fees arising out of Defendant’s 

actions and out of this litigation; and 

G. Such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and appropriate. 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY 

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs hereby demand 

a trial by jury in this action on all issues so triable. 

 
      /s/ Lindsey E. Sacher_                            
      LINDSEY E. SACHER (0087883) 
      JOHN P. SLAGTER (0055513) 
                                                                        ANTHONY R. VACANTI (0080834) 
                                                                        TUCKER ELLIS LLP 
      950 Main Ave., Suite 1100 

Cleveland, OH 44113 
Tel: 216.592.5000 
Fax: 216.592.5009  
lindsey.sacher@tuckerellis.com 
john.slagter@tuckerellis.com 
tony.vacanti@tuckerellis.com 
 
and 
 
ROMAN P. STORZER (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
ERIC W. TREENE (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
STORZER & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 
1025 Connecticut Ave. NW, Suite 1000 
Washington, DC 20036 
Tel: 202.857.9766 
storzer@storzerlaw.com 
treen@storzerlaw.com 
 
JONATHAN S. GROSS (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
STORZER & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 
9433 Common Brook Road, Suite 208 
Owings Mills, MD, 21117 
Tel:       410.559.6325 
gross@storzerlaw.com 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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